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Shortly after the death of my grandfather, | was fondled for the first time by afriend of the family. | had known Mr. Willie all
of my life. He made it clear that | better not tell anyone what he had done. If | did, he would tell my parents that | was lying,
and because of my lies, he would no longer take my father to and from work. If my father lost his job, it would all be my
fault. | believed him and | never said aword. | remember feeling completely helplessin the situation.

When | was 15 years old, | was on my way to my sister's house to babysit. As | was turning the corner, a car pulled up with
two men inside. One got out and asked for directions. As | was giving him directions, he suddenly grabbed my arm and
pulled me into the car, forcing my face onto the floorboard. The two drove to a construction site. They told me to get in the
backseat and take off my clothes. They wanted sex. As| crawled to the backseat of the car, | noticed one door was unlocked.
I quickly turned the doorknob and escaped. | never told my parents. | was so scared and frightened | would not be believed.

At 18 | was violently raped and badly beaten by Harold Yarbrough. He threatened to kill me if | told anyone or pressed
charges against him. Because we had mutual friends, | was always coming into contact with him. He continued his threats.
Harold terrified me--terrorized me for more than a year after the rape. His control over me ended with his death in a car acci-
dent. | was relieved. But, once again, | never told anyone of the rape.

Theimpact of my brutal rape and threats of retaliation shaped the way | interact with men.

The showers at Western Wayne [correctional facility] are too small to dress in without getting my clothes wet, so after my
shower | dress near the *226 sinks, in the bathroom near the sinks. There is no door from the hallway to the bathroom so any-
one walking down the hallway can see me in a state of undress. When | dressin my room, | have a fear of men peeping over
the door cover. As | age in prison, one of the only things | have left is my body. Having men look at me naked is such de-
gradation.

Women prisoners are referred to as bitches and whores by officers. Male staff at Western Wayne commonly refer to female
prisoners as bitches and "hos" and/or respond to women by saying fuck you.

Most complaints of sexual misconduct, inappropriate behavior, and retaliation are not false. However, it is normal for only
those involved in the activity or cover-up to know the circumstances surrounding the crime. In cases where there are no wit-
nesses and it is a"he said, she said" situation, the credibility of staff is aways given more weight that that of the prisoner. If
the allegation is deemed false, the prisoner can expect to be further victimized and punished by receiving an interference with
administration major misconduct ticket, which resultsin losing good time, disciplinary credits, and the possibility of delaying
parole.

Given the chilling consequences of reporting, many women are reluctant or unwilling to report sexual misconduct, sexual
harassment and/or privacy violations.
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Incarceration is a devastating experience, but if it is coupled with sexual abuse and assault by correctional steff, it far exceeds
the punishment imposed by judges, lawmakers, and society.

Yes, | am aconvicted felon, but my sentence does not require me to be exposed to or at risk of sexual assault anywhere, espe-
cialy by theindividuals hired to protect me. [EN1

Introduction
From 1988 to 1998, | directed a legal and educational program for women prisoners incarcerated at the Minimum Security
Annex by the District of Columbia Department of Corrections. In that role, | taught a curriculum that included issues the wo-
men identified as priorities: housing, drug treatment, child custody, employment, and health. [EN2] | also did legal intake and
helped women inmates resolve problems they were having obtaining services from their lawyers, the courts, socia service
agencies, and the prison. In 1992, the composition of the cases | was receiving in the legal program changed. Increasingly, |
was providing legal assistance to address the problems women *227 faced because they had conceived while incarcerated.
[EN3] The many challenges these women faced when they conceived in prison, [EN4] and my often unsuccessful attempts to
assist them in hiding, terminating, or managing their pregnancies, forced me to examine how they had become pregnant in a
system that specifically prohibits any sexual activity by prisoners. [EN5] While there are serious consequences for sex with
male inmates, including possible loss of good time credits or denial of parole for becoming pregnant while incarcerated,
[EN6] female inmates were much more concerned with identifying prison staff as the fathers of their children because they
feared retaliation and violence from other inmates and staff. Not surprisingly, the action or inaction of the institution and its
staff bore the primary responsibility for inmate pregnancy. [EN7] Female inmates * 228 conceived because inadequate staff-
ing or lack of supervision enabled them to find opportunities to have sexua relations with staff or other inmates; [FN8] be-
cause staff actively arranged for women to have sex with male inmates and other staff; [FN9] or because staff compelled sex
from women inmates by use of force, threats or inducements. [EN10]

After my attempts to resolve these systemic issues informally through demands failed, | [EN11] filed suit on behalf of a class
of women prisoners [FN12] alleging violations of their civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. [FN13] The litigation, Women
Prisoners v. District of Columbia, [EN14] established that a pattern of sexual abuse and harassment of women inmates viol-
ates the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. The litigation raised the issue of sexual misconduct in prisons as a na-
tional concern [EN15] and a subject for scholarly critique. [EN16] It was also the first class action by women inmates chal-
lenging sexual abuse by correctional staff. [EN17

*229 A natural outgrowth of the Women Prisoners litigation has been the search for policy and practice recommendations to
prevent sexual misconduct. One of the most often called for remedies for sexual misconduct has been to end the cross-gender
supervision of female inmates. [EN18] Cross-gender supervision is the supervision of inmates by staff of the opposite gender

FN19] and encompasses a range of practices including escorting prisoners, searching prisoners, and observing prisoners
while they work, sleep, eat or perform intensely private functions, such as bathing and toileting. [EN20] The theory contends
that if female staff supervised women inmates, then a primary vector for sexual misconduct would be eradicated. This ra-
tionale, of course, is subject to four significant criticisms. First, eliminating cross-gender supervision still ignores the sexual
misconduct female inmates experience at the hands of female staff. [EN21] Second, *230 same-sex supervision of women in-
mates by femal e staff ignores sexual misconduct by male and female staff against male inmates. [EN22] Third, the call to end
cross-gender supervision may run counter to significant Title VI jurisprudence ensuring equal opportunity to men and wo-
men in employment. [EN23] Finally, this proposal turns a blind eye to the egregious instances of sexual misconduct that took
place in settings where same-sex supervision policies were aready in place. [EN24]

This article addresses these arguments and ultimately concludes that same-sex supervision should be adopted in U.S. prisons
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in supervising both male and female prisoners. First, while same-sex supervision may not prevent sexual misconduct, it may
reduce it by cutting off a primary vector of sexual misconduct-cross-gender interactions between staff and inmates. Second,
same-sex supervision may increase prisoner well-being by giving prisoners a greater sense of control over their bodies,
thereby reducing their sense of vulnerability to abuse. [EN25] Finally, adopting same-sex supervision policies would make
the United States position more congruent with international standards for the treatment of prisoners. [EN26] Currently, the
United States is the one of the few developed countries that permits cross-gender supervision of male or female inmates in
sensitive areas such as living areas, showers and bathrooms. [EN27]

*231 Part Il of this article describes the context of sexual misconduct against prisoners in the United States, highlighting im-
portant cases and discourse. It also reviews and critiques the response of states and the federal government to sexual miscon-
duct in prison. Part 111 examines important differences in the legal decisions that address claims challenging cross-gender su-
pervision raised by or concerning male and female inmates. Part IV addresses the disconnect between the jurisprudence in-
volving cross-gender supervision of men and women, and examines the explicit and implicit assumptions about race and
gender that account for the difference in treatment.

Part V concludes with a recommendation that the U.S. establish a zone of privacy for both male and female inmates that ex-
ists regardless of the inmate's gender. It further concludes that while same-sex supervision of male and female inmatesis an
imperfect solution, it remains the best response presently available. The article aso provides recommendations for imple-
menting same-sex supervision consistent with Title VII, thereby recognizing both the importance of equal employment op-
portunities and the right to privacy and basic human dignity of both male and female inmates.

I. The Context of the Problem
Over the past ten years, staff sexual misconduct has become a major prison management and policy issue for states and the
federal government. While the problem first presented itself in major litigation against state corrections agencies, it soon be-
came a major source of critique for the U.S. by both domestic and international organizations. Several early cases, Cason v.
Seckinger, [EN28] Women Prisonersv. D.C., [EN29] and two cases brought by the Specia Litigation Section of the U.S. De-
partment of Justice under the Civil Rights of Institutionalized Persons Act [EN3Q] illustrate the different approaches that the
government and advocates have utilized to address sexual abuse of women in custody.

A. Early Litigation

Sexua misconduct often arises as part of other unconstitutional abuses and conditions in a corrections system. Often, the is-
sue of sexual misconduct may not be an initial complaint, but instead may arise in the course of investigating *232 other
claims. Cason v. Seckinger, one of the first contemporary cases to address widespread sexual misconduct against women, ex-
emplifies this pattern. [FN31] Cason was originaly filed in 1984 and sought to remedy numerous alleged constitutional viol-
ations related to conditions of confinement. [FN32] In 1990, however, allegations of widespread sexua abuse of women in
Georgias Milledgeville State Prison emerged in enforcement proceedings related to the existing litigation. [FN33] Allega
tions included claims that women were forced to have sex with staff, routinely exchanged sex for favors, and experienced
verbal harassment. [FN34] Women also alleged that their complaints about the abuse went unheeded and uninvestigated;

FN35] that they suffered emotional and psychological harm as aresult of the abuse and did not receive appropriate counsel-
ing to deal with the trauma; [FN36] and that they were placed in physical restraints and seclusion for days at atime. [FN37]
They claimed that during seclusion, male officers often stripped them naked and observed them on camera. [FN38] On
March 7, 1984, the court ruled in favor of the plaintiff, entering an order permanently enjoining sexual contact, sexual harass-
ment, and staff sexual abuse of female inmates. [FN39
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In 1993, | litigated Women Prisoners |. [EN40] Asin Cason, allegations of widespread sexua abuse of women emerged dur-
ing the fact investigation for the underlying claims. [EN41] In Women Prisoners |, women incarcerated in the District of
Columbia correctional system alleged that they were denied equal access to educational, vocational, work, apprenticeship,
and religious opportunity. [EN42] In the course of conducting fact investigations on claims of unequal access to education,
recreation, and work and industry assignment, female inmates revealed widespread sexual relations between male staff and
female inmates and between male inmates and female inmates, at each of the * 233 three facilities that were the subject of the
litigation. [FN43] What surfaced was evidence of abuse including: inappropriate comments of a sexual nature; touching of
women's breasts, buttocks and vaginal area; sex in exchange for food, cigarettes, and privileges; and sexual assault. [FN44]
While Cason involved the complaints of individual women, the allegations of sexual abuse, denial of equal access to pro-
gramming, poor medical care, and unsafe living conditions were so pervasive and consistent that the plaintiff-female inmates
were certified as a class. [EN45] The female prisoners sought to hold the defendants liable pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983
FN46] and D.C. Code 88§ 22-425 and 22-442. [EN47]

In December 1994, the United States District Court for the District of Columbia found that within the District of Columbia
Department of Corrections, there existed a "'sexualized environment' where ‘boundaries and expectations of behavior are not
clear,"" [EN48] and that such an environment was sufficiently severe and pervasive to constitute an Eighth Amendment viola-
tion. [EN49] Specifically, the court found that "[t]he physical assaults endured by women prisoners at the Annex, CTF and
the Jail unquestionably violate the Eighth Amendment . . . . In combination, vulgar sexua remarks of prison officers, the lack
of privacy within CTF cells and the refusal of some male corrections officers to announce their presence in the living areas of
women prisoners constitute a violation of the Eighth Amendment.” [EN50] The district court found that "many incidents of
sexual misconduct between prison employees and female prisonersin all three of the women's facilities in this case" had oc-
curred. [EN51] The court concluded that while the D.C. Department of Corrections had anti-sexual misconduct policies in
place, those policies were of little value because of the lack of staff training, inconsistent reporting practices, inadequate in-
vestigation, and timid sanctions. [FN52

*234 Subsequent litigation by the U.S. Department of Justice Specia Litigation Section sought to remedy sexual misconduct
by holding states accountable for violations of CRIPA, a statute only enforceable by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ). In
1997, the Special Litigation Section of the DOJ filed suit against Arizona and Michigan for widespread patterns of sexual ab-
use of women inmates under CRIPA, [EN53] and eventually obtained settlements in each case in 1999. [FN54] The Depart-
ment of Justice entered both cases in response to alegations of state failure to protect inmates from staff sexual misconduct.
As a result, Michigan's settlement agreement required, among other things, the ingtitution of a six-month moratorium on
cross-gender pat searches of female inmates. The settlement agreement also prohibited male staff from being alone with fe-
male inmates and required male staff to announce their presence anywhere female inmates might be in a state of undress.

FN55] Arizona's settlement agreement required better applicant screening, the use of contract employees, improved training
and investigations, meaningful sanctions, and prohibitions against rehiring any employee who resigns in lieu of dismissal
after an allegation of sexual misconduct. [FN56]

Cason, Women Prisoners and the Department of Justice's CRIPA litigation represent atimeline of the efforts to address sexu-
al abuse of women in custody. The sexual abuse claims in Cason arose from individual women's allegations of sexual abuse
in the context of alarger piece of litigation, even though the ultimate remedy affected all female prisoners in the Georgia De-
partment of Corrections. Women Prisoners addressed the pervasive and ingtitutionalized character of sexual abuse of women
in custody by recognizing that women could experience sexua abuse in custody as a class of women and that sexual abuse
could be "cruel and unusual punishment" [EN57] as envisioned in the U.S. *235 Constitution. Moreover, the Department of
Justice litigation situated protection from sexual abuse of women in custody as a civil right, which the government was oblig-
ated to protect. Subsequent litigation [EN58] has proceeded under one of the three models discussed above, often addressing
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questions | eft unanswered by this first generation of litigation. [EN59]

While subsequent litigation has received widespread media attention, it is fair to say that claims of sexual abuse of women in
custody have garnered only mixed results in the courts. [EN60] On the one hand, the litigation has established that sexual ab-
use of women in custody is aviolation of the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. [EN61] At the same time, however, the
doctrine of qualified immunity, [EN62] which shields government officials from civil liability in performing discretionary
functions as long as their conduct does not violate clearly established constitutional rights, of which a reasonable person
should have known, has often meant that prisons, prison officials, and municipalities are held blameless, while individual
corrections officers are held liable. [EN63] While * 236 finding individual actors liable [EN64] provides some measure of vin-
dication for the victims, it does little to address the complicity of systems and officials in the sexual abuse of women in cus-

tody. [EN65]

While these setbacks are disheartening, early litigation like Cason and Women Prisoners nevertheless played an important
part in establishing that staff sexual misconduct occurred within inmates' institutional settings. [EN66] In particular, Women
Prisoners established that unremediated sexual misconduct violated the constitutional ban on cruel and unusua punishment.
As aresult of Women Prisoners and cases like it, the public was much more willing to believe that such abuses could occur,
particularly when confronted with instances of abuse of power in other institutions including foster care, [EN67] the juvenile
system, [EN68] the church, [EN69] the military, [FN70] and government. [EN71] Moreover, the emergence of dialogue on
the pervasive climate of violence and harassment that exists against women not only in this country but also in other coun-
tries has increased the public's willingness to hear and credit that such abuses could occur. [EN72] Specifically, the public
discourse on partner violence, rape, and sexual *237 harassment has educated and informed the public and policymakers
about sexual abuse against women prisoners. Consequently, enacting legislation to protect prisoners from sexua abuse be-
came palitically feasible.

B. The Enactment of Legislation Prohibiting Sexual Abuse of Prisoners

In response to the increased attention on staff sexual misconduct with inmates, states enacted laws specifically prohibiting
sexual contact between correctional staff and inmates. [EN73] In the early 1990s, few states had laws specifically prohibiting
sexual contact between correctional staff and inmates. [EN74] In the absence of such statutes, many incidents of sexua mis-
conduct could not be prosecuted under existing general sexual assault statutes where consent is a defense to the conduct. Of-
ten, staff involved claimed that the inmate had either enticed them [EN75] or had consented to the conduct. [EN76] As ares-
ult, states enacted laws, often in the wake of visible incidents, prohibiting any sexual contact between prisoners and staff.

EN77] These laws differ in their coverage--some apply only to prisons, [EN78] while others cover prisons, parole, probation,
and work release programs. [EN79] Still others cover juvenile facilities. [EN80] Some states take the approach of broadly
covering anyone under "custody" or authority of law. [EN81]

Three states, Arizona, Nevada, and Delaware, have passed legislation providing for the prosecution of inmates who willingly
engage in sexual misconduct with staff. [FN82] These states have also codified inmate consent into * 238 their statutes. This
approach isin the minority - twenty-one states specifically provide that the consent of the inmate is not a defense available to
staff accused of prohibited conduct. [FN83] The large majority of states define these offenses as felonies. [FN84

Even though the enactment of legislation has been a critical element in responding to staff sexual misconduct with inmates, it
has not had the broad prophylactic effect that policymakers, advocates, and corrections officials anticipated. Unfortunately,
sexual abuse in ingtitutional settings remains even less likely to be reported and prosecuted than sexual assault in the larger
community. [EN85] All of the barriers to the prosecution of sexual assault in general, such as issues related to credibility, the
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shifting nature of consent, and problems of proof, are intensified when the complainant is a prisoner. [FN86]
C. Domestic Scrutiny of Staff Sexual Misconduct with Inmates

In 1996, the National Institute of Corrections (NIC) began a process of examining the scope of the problem of sexual miscon-
duct and the responses of correctional agencies to those problems. NIC published a study in November 1996 [FN87] that
made several important findings. First, the report found "significant * 239 activity" among state departments of corrections on
the issue of staff/inmate sexual misconduct, spurred by "recent legislative action, litigation, and ongoing concern for improv-
ing agency policy and practice." [EN88] Second, the report found that of the fifty-three jurisdictions responding to the NIC
survey, [EN89] twenty-four had been involved in litigation in the preceding five years related to sexual misconduct allega
tionsinvolving staff and inmates. [FN90] At the time of the report, nineteen of the reporting states were in the midst of litiga-
tion. [EN91] Third, the report found that many state corrections agencies had no internal policies specifically prohibiting
sexual contact between staff and inmates. [FN92] When policies were in place, they were often vague and confusing. [FN93]
The report also found that while states reported training staff specifically on sexual misconduct with inmates, the majority
only provided one to four hours of training that focused on successfully avoiding encounters and refraining from activity that
might lead to prohibited sexual or sexualized contact with inmates. [FN94] Only eight states specifically provided training to
inmates. [EN95] Finally, the survey revealed varying levels of inter-agency cooperation in addressing staff/inmate sexual
misconduct. Some state departments of corrections (DOCs) may call on other agencies for help in investigating allegations of
staff sexual misconduct with inmates, and some may not. Furthermore, only some DOCs had established relationships with
either state police or prosecutors to assure that cases were vigorously investigated and prosecuted. [FN96]

NIC updated its earlier study in May 2000 to determine the progress corrections agencies had made since the 1996 report.

EN97] The study found that corrections agencies were continuing to address staff sexual misconduct with inmates. In 2000,
al but eight states had specific statutes, which prohibited *240 staff sexual misconduct with inmates. [EN98] The report
found that 15 states either had enacted or amended statutes prohibiting staff sexual misconduct with inmates since 1996.
EN99] The May 2000 report found that slightly more states were involved in litigation related to staff sexual misconduct.
The 2000 report indicated that in 1999, 22 state DOCs were involved in litigation based on sexual misconduct with staff or
inmates, whereas in 1996, 24 states indicated involvement in similar litigation over the previous five years. [EN100] Asin
1996, the majority of these cases were individual damage suits against the corrections agencies and the state. [FN101] Since
1996, states had written and implemented specific internal policies prohibiting staff sexual misconduct with inmates, in-
creased staff training, and increased communication with inmates about staff sexual misconduct. [EN102

The General Accounting Office (GAO), at the request of Delegate Eleanor Holmes Norton, initiated its own study of the in-
cidence of sexual misconduct by correctional staff in June 1999. [EN103] The GAO report found that most correctional juris-
dictions generally recognize staff-on-inmate sexual misconduct as a problem and that forty-one states had passed laws crim-
inalizing sexual misconduct in prisons. [EN104] It also noted that most correctional systems had participated in training pro-
gramsto develop policies and implement procedures to address sexual misconduct. [EN105] The GAO found that, while laws
and policies could help reduce staff sexual misconduct, they had not helped as much as expected. [EN106] The GAO found
that staff-on-inmate sexual misconduct still occurs and is underreported. [EN107

Specifically, the GAO report noted that "[t]he systemic absence of such data or reports makes it difficult for lawmakers, cor-
rectional system managers, relevant federal and state officials, inmate advocacy groups, academicians, and others to effect-
ively address staff sexual misconduct issues." [FN108] GAO found that the absence of such information impeded effortsin
four key areas. (1) monitoring the incidence of the sexual misconduct; (2) keeping track of employees accused and found to
beinvolved in staff sexual misconduct; (3) monitoring the enforcement of state law and corrections policies and * 241 proced-
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ures; and (4) identifying corrective actions to address misconduct. [EN109] As aresult, the GAO recommended the develop-
ment of systems and procedures for monitoring, analyzing, and reporting allegations of staff sexual misconduct. [EN110

The GAO report examined correctional systemsin four jurisdictions: Texas, the Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP), California,
and the District of Columbia. The report found that the full extent of sexual misconduct in prisons is unknown because many
female inmates may be reluctant or unwilling to report staff sexual misconduct. [EN111] Importantly, the GAO found that the
lack of systemic data collection and analysis hampered efforts to discover the full extent of staff-on-inmate sexual miscon-
duct. [EN112] For example, from 1995 to 1998, the three largest jurisdictions studied (California, BOP and Texas) reported
five-hundred and six allegations of sexual misconduct. Of that number, ninety-two (eighteen percent) were sustained.

FN113] Staff resignations or terminations followed the majority of the sustained allegations. [EN114] Two of the three
largest jurisdictions studied (BOP and Texas) provided no data on the types of allegationsinvolved (i.e., sexual contact, inap-
propriate touching, invasion of privacy, etc.), thus the full extent of staff sexual misconduct in those jurisdictions remains un-
known. [EN115] Data from the District of Columbiaindicated that eleven percent of allegations by female inmates were sus-
tained and resulted in disciplinary action against staff members. [EN116] District of Columbia officials cited lack of evidence
as the reason why more allegations were not sustained.

The GAO Report's call for increased and better reporting is welcome, but it does not address a more pernicious problem- the
paucity of sustained allegations. The lack of sustained allegations can be attributed to several factors present in prison culture.
First, there is an issue of inmate credibility. Generally, if there is a dispute between an inmate and a staff member, the staff
member's version of events will be believed. This notion that inmates live to lie and manipulate staff and the corrections sys-
tem means that inmates' complaints about sexual misconduct and other matters are at best ignored, and at worst, generate
punishment and retaliation. [FN117] Second, recent research shows *242 that the code of silence in prisons is extremely
powerful. [FN118] A study by the Nationa Institute of Ethics found that 46 percent of responding officers had withessed
misconduct, but had concealed it. Eight percent of those responding were "upper administrators.” [FN119] Finally, fearing
that they will not be believed and will be retaliated against by staff and other inmates, many inmates do not report staff sexual
misconduct or will only report it long after the event has occurred. [EN120] This reluctance and fear often means that crucial,
corroborating evidence is no longer available.

D. International Scrutiny of Staff Sexual Misconduct with Inmates

In addition to developmentsin case law and legislation, sexual abuse of women in the custody of the United States has gener-
ated intense scrutiny by human rights organizations, domestically and abroad. [EN121] In 1996, Human Rights Watch re-
leased a report, All Too Familiar: Sexual Abuse of Women in U.S. State Prisons, [EN122] analyzing the United States' re-
sponse to the problem of sexual abuse of female prisoners. The report examined prison systems in the District of Columbia,
Cdlifornia, Georgia, Illinois, Michigan, and New Y ork. The report sharply criticized practices in each of these jurisdictions
and recommended changes in training, legislation, and policy. Due in large part to visible litigation on the issue and the Hu-
man Rights Watch report, the Special Rapporteur for Violence Against Women, Radhika Coomaraswamy, issued a stinging
report on the treatment of women in U.S. prisons, focusing most particularly on sexual misconduct and cross-gender supervi-

sion. [EN123]

*243 This report was followed by a report from Amnesty International, "Not Part of My Sentence:” Violations of the Human
Rights of Women in Custody, which focused on a number of issues affecting women in custody - including sexua abuse. The
Amnesty report reached essentially the same conclusions as the Human Rights Watch report and called for: (1) same-sex su-
pervision of female inmates; (2) more explicit policies and laws prohibiting sexual abuse of inmates; (3) stronger mechan-
isms for investigating and prosecuting sexual abuse of prisoners; (4) appropriate supportive services and redress for sexual
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abuse; and (5) greater protection from retaliation for inmates who reported sexual misconduct. [FN124] The report explicitly
addressed sexual abuse of female inmates, tersely disparaging the United States practice of permitting male staff to guard fe-
male inmates as contrary to international human rights standards enunciated in Article 10 of the International Covenant on
Civil and Political Rights. [FN125] The Amnesty International report cited a moving letter that investigators received from
the general population of women at Valey State Prison in California as an example of female inmates' response to cross-
gender supervision:

There's no voice telling taxpayers that their money is being wasted, that we are in need of adequate medical care, that we
don't like being pawed on by male correctional officers under the pretence of being pat searched. No, we don't have a voice
that will speak about how we are treated by the male officers, asif we were their private harem to sexually abuse and harass.
Not to mention the emotional and verbal abuses when being addressed as bitches, niggers, wet backs, or any other of the ra-
cial or sexual slursthat the abusive officer'stiny mind can conjure. [FN126

Despite the increased visibility of the issue, enactment of legislation, and critique by both domestic and international organiz-
ations, policy and practice remain disconnected. Few changes have been made to address sexual misconduct in prison--it re-
mains underreported and underprosecuted. [EN127] Even * 244 more hidden are the instances of sexual misconduct involving
male and female staff and male inmates. [EN128] Even when the complaints are eventually substantiated, corrections de-
cision-makers are less willing to hold female staff liable for sexual misconduct with male inmates on the theory that male in-
mates are more predatory and that female staff are the victims in those interactions. Thus, while many experts agree that a
single remedy--same-sex supervision--would ameliorate a large percentage of staff sexual misconduct with inmates, the prac-
tice remains mired in controversy about whether it is appropriate for both men and women, and whether it violates the em-
ployment rights of male and female staff.

I1. Court Decision-Making on Cross-Gender Supervision

The issue of same sex supervision is not new. The first prisons in this country held men and women together, [FN129] and
women were supervised by male guards. Not surprisingly, there were many accounts of children conceived during their
mother's imprisonment. [FN130] This abuse of women in custody led to public outcry and criticism from religious groups,
particularly the Quakers, [FN131] and spurred the creation of all female facilities. Same sex supervision was the norm until
the early 1970s, when women sought entry into the corrections field after years of being excluded or being allowed only to
work in female ingtitutions. [FN132] In the 1970s, women began to assert their rights under Title V11 to work in male correc-
tional facilities. [EN133] Then, beginning in the 1980s with the * 245 increase in female employees in male correctional facil-
ities, states began to receive challenges from male inmates complaining about the presence of women staff in sensitive super-
vision area, such as showers, living quarters, and search posts. [FN134] Male prisoners [FN135] and male-dominated staff
and administrations [FN136] contested women's employment in male correctiona facilities with the former citing privacy
and other constitutional concerns, [FN137] and the latter challenging women's fitness for these "high risk" positions. [FN138]
With one notable exception, [FN139] courts settled those early claimsin favor of female employees.

*246 In the early 1990s, as a response to highly publicized cases of sexual misconduct between male staff and female in-
mates, the issue of same-sex supervision again emerged at the forefront of corrections policy. [EN140] These cases [FN141]
were framed in much the same way as they had been framed in the late 19th century, [EN142] when scandals involving fe-
male inmates created the impetus for single-sex reformatories.

Contemporary challenges to cross-gender supervision have been raised in four separate contexts, with male inmates initiating
the large majority of those challenges: (1) male prisoners challenging supervision by female staff; [EN143] (2) female prison-
ers challenging their supervision by male staff; [EN144] (3) male staff chalenging their exclusion from positions in femae
correctional institutions;, [EN145] and (4) female staff challenging policies that limit their placement in men's institutions.
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FN146

*247 Typically, inmates have raised challenges pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, [EN147] which prohibits deprivation of aright
secured by either the Constitution or Laws of the United States by a person acting under color of state law. The majority of
these claims have been raised under the Fourth and Eighth Amendments. [EN148] Both male and female inmates have ar-
gued that supervision or searches by staff of the opposite gender violate important privacy rights protected by the Fourth
Amendment. [EN149] Inmates have also challenged cross-gender supervision as a violation of their right to be free from
cruel and unusual punishment pursuant to the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. [EN150] The courts have had difficulty
determining the rights of prisoners in situations involving cross-gender supervision. The outcome of these challenges has
*248 depended in large part on three factors: (1) the gender of the inmate; (2) the gender of the staff person; and (3) the
nature of the intrusion challenged.

A. Inmate Challenges to Cross-Gender Supervision under the Fourth Amendment

Both male and female inmates have challenged cross-gender supervision as a violation of the Fourth Amendment of the
United States Constitution. [FN151] Inmates have raised these challenges under the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against
unreasonable searches and the more general guarantee of the right to privacy found variously under the Fourth, Fourteenth
and Fifth Amendments. [EN152] While all courts clearly state that inmates cannot expect the same degree of privacy they en-
joyed in free society, [EN153] most have found that prisoners retain some right to bodily privacy under the Fourth Amend-
ment. [EN154] Asin all Fourth Amendment cases, the court must answer the threshold question of whether the individua has
areasonable expectation of privacy that * 249 society is willing to recognize. [EN155] Additionally, in the prison context, the
court must consider whether the prison has a legitimate penological reason for limiting inmates constitutional rights.

FN156

The bulk of cross-gender jurisprudence involves male inmates challenges to female supervision. Generally, male inmates
have argued that supervision or intrusive searches by female staff violate important privacy rights protected by the Fourth
Amendment [EN157] and the more general right to privacy under the Fourteenth Amendment. [EN158] Female inmates, on
the other hand, have not only ar